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Asserted Patent 
Exemplary Claims Practiced 

by Covered CVI Toner Supply 
Containers 

Exhibit Number 
of Claim Charts 

’033 patent 1, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 23, 26 25 

’654 patent 1, 3, 4, 5, 46, 48, 49, 50 26 

’881 patent 1, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13 27 

’882 patent 1, 6, 7, 8 28 
 

Group II Patents 

Asserted Patent 
Exemplary Claims Practiced 

by Covered CVI Toner Supply 
Containers 

Exhibit Number 
of Claim Charts 

’649 patent 1, 2, 6, 7, 12, 25, 26 29 

’551 patent 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 30 

’402 patent 1, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 23, 25, 26, 27, 32, 36, 
37, 39, 40, 41, 46 31 

 
Claim charts that demonstrate how a representative Covered CVI Toner Supply Container of 

Complainants, namely, model GPR-53 Toner (Black), practices the independent claims 

identified above for each of the Asserted Patents are attached hereto as Exhibits 19 to 31.  

Photographs of Complainants’ representative Covered CVI Toner Supply Container, GPR-53 

Toner (Black), are also included in Exhibit 32.  Each of the remaining Covered CVI Toner 

Supply Containers identified in the Confidential Keegan Declaration are covered by the above-

identified claims of the Asserted Patents in substantially the same way as shown in Exhibits 19 to 

31 with respect to the GPR-53 Toner (Black) toner supply container.  

VIII. HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE ITEM NUMBERS  

250. On information and belief, the Accused Toner Supply Containers fall within at 

least the following classification of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule (“HTS”) of the United 

States: 8443.99.20, 8443.99.25, 8443.99.30, 8443.99.40, and 8443.99.50.  These HTS 
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classification numbers are intended to be for illustration only and are not exhaustive of the 

products accused of infringement in this Complaint.  The HTS numbers are not intended to limit 

the scope of the investigation.    

IX. RELATED LITIGATION 

251. Concurrently with the filing of this Complaint, Complainant CINC is filing a civil 

action against each Respondent asserting infringement of the applicable Asserted Patents and 

seeking damages and injunctive relief in the following U.S. district courts: 

Case Name Court 

Canon Inc. v. Ninestar Technology Company, Ltd.; Ninestar 
Corporation; and Ninestar Image Tech Limited C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc. M.D.N.C. 

Canon Inc. v. Katun Corporation and General Plastic Industrial 
Co. Ltd. D. Minn. 

Canon Inc. v. Sichuan XingDian Technology Co., Ltd. and 
Sichuan Wiztoner Technology Co., Ltd. E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. Anhuiyatengshangmaoyouxiangongsi E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. 
ChengDuXiangChangNanShiYouSheBeiYouXianGongSi  

E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. Copier Repair Specialists, Inc. E.D. Tex. 

Canon Inc. v. Digital Marketing Corporation C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. Do It Wiser LLC D. Del. 

Canon Inc. v. Easy Group, LLC C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. Hefeierlandianzishangwuyouxiangongsi E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. Ink Technologies Printer Supplies, LLC S.D. Ohio 

Canon Inc. v. Kuhlmann Enterprises, Inc. D. Ariz 

Canon Inc. v. LD Products, Inc. C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. NAR Cartridges N.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. Shenzhenshi Keluodeng Kejiyouxiangognsi E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. Sun Data Supply, Inc. C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. The Supplies Guys, LLC E.D. Pa. 
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Case Name Court 

Canon Inc. v. MITO COLOR INC. C.D. Cal. 

Canon Inc. v. Xianshi yanliangqu canqiubaihuodianshanghang 
and Zhuhai Henyun Image Co., Ltd. E.D.N.Y. 

Canon Inc. v. Zinyaw LLC S.D. Tex. 

252. Except for the foregoing, neither the alleged unfair methods of competition and 

unfair acts, nor the subject matter thereof, have been the subject of any other court or agency 

litigation.    

X. GENERAL EXCLUSION ORDER 

253. Canon seeks a general exclusion order as part of its relief. 

254. A general exclusion order is warranted when such exclusion “is necessary to 

prevent circumvention of an exclusion order limited to products of named persons” or where 

“there is a pattern of violation of [Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1990] and it is difficult to 

identify the source of infringing products.”  19 U.S.C. § 1337(d).  A general exclusion order is 

warranted here both to prevent circumvention of any exclusion order limited to products of 

named entities and because there is a pattern of violation of Section 337 and it is often difficult if 

not impossible to identify the source of infringing products.  Indeed, as explained below, a 

general exclusion order is both necessary and warranted here for many if not all of the same 

reasons that the Commission previously issued general exclusion orders in Certain Toner 

Cartridges and Components Thereof, Investigation No. 337-TA-829 (the “829 Investigation”) 

and Certain Toner Cartridges and Components Thereof, Investigation No. 337-TA-918 (the 

“918 Investigation”), particularly given that the products at issue in those investigations are in 
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the same general category of products as those at issue now in this Complaint, namely, toner 

consumable products,14 and, on information and belief, both have the same HTS classifications.  

A. Circumvention of Limited Exclusion Orders 

1. Masking of Identities and Product Source 

255. Many manufacturers and sellers of infringing toner supply containers actively try 

to remain unknown and unidentifiable, particularly to original equipment manufacturers 

(“OEMs”) like Canon, and/or hide or otherwise refuse to reveal the source of their products, 

which often makes it difficult, if not impossible, for Customs to determine whether a given toner 

supply container is made by a particular entity.  See 829 Investigation, Order No. 25 

(Recommended Determination) (“829 RD”) at 123 (“The undisputed evidence indicates that in 

the toner cartridge market, it is difficult to trace the origin of a particular import even when all of 

the players involved are operating honestly.”).   

256. Such manufacturers and sellers often employ complex business arrangements, 

frequently change corporate structures, do business under multiple different names and 

frequently change names, and operate as webs of confusingly similar corporate entities acting 

together under common control, all of which would further complicate Customs’ ability to detect 

illegal toner supply container importations.  See 918 Investigation, Order No. 34 (Recommended 

Determination) (“918 RD”) at 270 (“Indeed, many manufacturers and sellers of aftermarket toner 

 
14 Although the 829 and 918 Investigations involved toner cartridges for use in printers as 
opposed to toner supply containers for use in copiers, industry participants (including many of 
the proposed respondents here and the respondents in the 918 and 1106 Investigations) often 
make and/or sell both types of products, and the practices discussed herein generally apply to 
both types of products.  Moreover, many of the Accused Toner Supply Containers are labeled by 
the Respondents as “toner cartridges.”  See, e.g., Ex. 66 (including photographs of Do It Wiser 
08-08.9-ITCANON3325K1, 08-08.9-ITCANON3325C1, 08-08.9-ITCANON3325M1, and 08-
08.9-ITCANON3325Y1 box describing its contents as “toner cartridges”); Ex. 131 (including 
international shipping labels with product description “TONER CARTRIDGE”). 
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cartridges, while technically separate entities, form intricate arrays of similar subsidiaries, which 

typically act together as a common enterprise and under common management, and are all in the 

same business syndicate.”); 829 RD at 123 (“[T]he manufacturers and trading entities that make, 

sell for importation, and/or import accused products ‘employ complex business arrangements 

that make enforcement of U.S. intellectual property (‘IP’) rights difficult.’”) (citation omitted).  

Indeed, of the Respondents named herein, at least eight of them appear to do business under 

more than one name, and at least the manufacturers and/or distributors of Ninestar, GPI, and 

Wiztoner toner supply containers each operate as several differently named business entities as 

explained in detail above.  

257. Companies in the aftermarket toner supply container industry often use certain 

sales and import practices that make it difficult for an OEM to obtain and investigate their 

products.  For example, on information and belief, many manufacturers and sellers avoid selling 

toner supply containers to OEMs and investigators by selling only to customers with registered 

accounts, which requires submitting detailed paperwork and documentation, such as reseller 

certificates.  See, e.g., Ex. 143 (“About Us” webpage from ninestartechonline.com stating that 

“We do not sell to the end user.  In order to use our website, you must be a registered reseller 

with Ninestar Technology.  To become a Ninestar Technology registered reseller … please be 

prepared to fax us your state resale certificate.”).  In addition, manufacturers and sellers often 

require a large minimum order size, which makes it more expensive for OEMs and investigators 

to purchase sample products.  See id. (“Ninestar Technology is strictly a wholesale distributor for 

Premium Imaging Products.  We do not sell to the end user.”).   

258. Companies in the aftermarket toner supply container industry also use importation 

practices that evade investigations by OEMs and U.S. Customs.  For instance, importers of 
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aftermarket toner supply containers often request that U.S. Customs not disclose consignee and 

shipper names and addresses listed on import manifests, preventing OEMs and investigators’ 

access to an important source of information for ascertaining the sources of infringing toner 

supply containers.  As one example, on information and belief, while the Ninestar Respondents 

continue to import Accused Toner Supply Containers into the United States, Panjiva’s 

importation records show numerous shipments from Ninestar Image to Ninestar Tech, which 

abruptly stop from February 6, 2017 to February 11, 2019, and then resume and abruptly stop 

again after August 5, 2019, suggesting that Ninestar has taken steps to conceal its importation 

activities.  See Ex. 183 (Panjiva report showing shipments from Ninestar Image to Ninestar 

Tech).  As another example, on information and belief, while the GPI Respondents continue to 

import Accused Toner Supply Containers into the United States, Panjiva’s importation records 

abruptly stop showing shipments from GPI to Katun after November 26, 2019.  See Ex. 182 

(Panjiva report showing shipments from GPI to Katun).  Beginning around that time and 

continuing to the present, Panjiva’s importation records show numerous shipments where both 

the consignee information and the shipper information are blank, but where the container marks 

include indicia of “Katun” (e.g., “KATUN NADC DAVENPORT USA”) and the port of lading 

is Kaohsiung, Taiwan—the port associated with shipments from GPI to Katun in Exhibit 182.  

See id.; Ex. 184 (Panjiva report showing shipments with blank consignee and shipper 

information and with container marks including the word “Katun”).  As another example, 

importers of aftermarket toner supply containers often provide vague descriptions of the 

imported goods on import records, such as “copier replacement parts,” which lack details about 

the specific products being imported.  See, e.g., Ex. 184 (Panjiva report showing shipments with 
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descriptions such as “COPIER REPLACEMENT PARTS,” “REPLACEMENT PARTS FOR 

COPIERPRINTER HS CODE 8443. 90,” and “PARTS TO MACHINES COPY”).   

259. Foreign manufacturers of toner supply containers also sell such products to 

resellers outside of the United States, and after they do so, they have no control over whether the 

third-party resellers import those products into the United States or sell those products to 

customers in the United States.  The Ninestar Respondents and other manufacturer respondents 

in Certain Toner Cartridges and Components Thereof, Investigation No. 337-TA-1106 (the 

“1106 Investigation”) stipulated to these facts with respect to the toner cartridges at issue in the 

1106 investigation, which are the same type of product as those that were at issue in the 829 and 

918 Investigations, and which are in the same general category as the Accused Toner Supply 

Containers here.  See Ex. 185 (Public Version of Joint Stipulation Regarding Remedy in 337-

TA-1106) at ¶¶ 11, 23, 25. 

2. Facilitating Circumvention Through Internet Operation 

260. The use of the internet by manufacturers and sellers of aftermarket toner supply 

containers facilitates circumvention of exclusion orders limited to products of named 

respondents.  For example, many of the Retailer Respondents conduct their operations via 

internet websites.  See, e.g., digitalbuyer.com; doitwiser.com; imagetoner.com; 

cartridgeamerica.com; 499inks.com; 123refills.com; atlanticinkjet.com; inktechnologies.com; 

precisionroller.com; ldproducts.com; sundatasupply.com; suppliesguys.com; and 

tonerpirate.com.  In several cases, the names of these websites bear no resemblance to the 

Respondent’s name and the websites themselves do not contain any readily discernable 

indication as to what company actually operates the website.  See, e.g., imagetoner.com 

(operated by Do It Wiser LLC); cartridgeamerica.com, 499inks.com, 123refills.com, and 

atlanticinkjet.com (operated by Easy Group, LLC); tonerpirate.com (operated by Zinyaw LLC); 
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and precisionroller.com (operated by Kuhlmann Enterprises, Inc.).  The ability of retailers to set 

up and conduct operations via internet websites such as these would allow them to circumvent 

limited exclusion orders.  See 918 RD at 269 (“This practice of providing very little or no 

identifying information about the company operating and/or behind products on a given website 

permits the company to easily set up a new website with new contact information to avoid 

detection by OEMs and circumvent any exclusion order limited to named companies.”).   

261. Moreover, some internet-based retailers engage in a practice known as “drop 

shipping,” whereby instead of maintaining an actual inventory of toner supply containers, their 

customers’ orders are fulfilled directly by a manufacturer or other distributor.  By using drop 

shipping, a retailer can easily shut down one website and set up a new website to continue 

operations in the face of a limited exclusion order.  See 918 RD at 269 (“Internet-based retailers 

in the aftermarket toner cartridge industry use drop-shipping knowing that it enables them to shut 

down a given website and begin operations through a new website, thus allowing them to 

circumvent an exclusion order specifically directed to named companies, and at least some of 

these companies do so with the intent of evading detection by OEMs.  Therefore, if an exclusion 

order … listed the website(s) through which the respondents were known to conduct their 

operations, it would be simple for those respondents to set up new website(s) and continue their 

operations.”).  For example, on information and belief, Accused Toner Supply Containers sold 

by Yatengshang, ChengDuXiang, Erlandianzishang, KenoGen, and TopInk were fulfilled by Do 

It Wiser, as evidenced by those toner supply containers having been sold in “Do It Wiser” 

packaging.  See supra ¶¶ 228-232.   

262. Additionally, well-known online marketplaces, such as Amazon.com, Ebay.com, 

Alibaba.com, and Made-in-China.com, provide manufacturers and sellers of infringing toner 
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supply containers with dedicated, flexible infrastructure to sell directly to U.S. consumers 

without revealing the true source of such toner supply containers.  For example, Amazon.com 

offers different levels of fulfillment services: first-party selling, in which Amazon itself resells 

products from branded wholesalers; second-party selling, in which the brand is the reseller but 

relies on Amazon for warehousing and shipping; and third-party selling, in which the brand is the 

retailer and fulfills its own products, using Amazon as an intermediary.  Where Amazon fulfills a 

customer’s orders, Amazon’s address appears on shipping materials as opposed to the reseller’s, 

such that the customer does not necessarily know the source of the purchased item. 

263. These marketplaces have at least hundreds of sellers of toner consumable 

products.  A February 12, 2021 search for “canon compatible toner” (i.e., a non-OEM toner 

supply container) on Alibaba.com alone revealed 213 foreign suppliers, including suppliers from 

China, India, Singapore, Macau, and the United Kingdom.  See Ex. 186 (Alibaba.com supplier 

search results for “canon compatible toner”).  Moreover, the Alibaba.com search results 

identified North America as one of the top markets for those suppliers, in aggregate.  See id.  

Similarly, a February 12, 2021 search for “Canon compatible toner” on Made-in-China.com 

revealed 224 suppliers in China (including Hong Kong).  See Ex. 187 (Made-in-China.com 

supplier search results for “Canon compatible toner”).   

264. The ease with which online sellers can make multiple storefronts on online 

marketplaces also facilitates circumvention of limited exclusion orders.  As LD Products 

stipulated in the 1106 Investigation, “the ease with which Amazon sellers can set up shop on 

Amazon enables patent-infringing sellers of toner cartridges to enter and re-enter the 

marketplace.  If Amazon catches such sellers and removes products listings, or even entire 

storefronts, it is easy for the firm or individuals to begin selling again under a different name.  
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LD Products has seen other Amazon sellers have their stores suspended or even permanently 

shut down, only to see the same seller open a new store under a different name.”  Ex. 185 (Public 

Version of Joint Stipulation Regarding Remedy in 337-TA-1106) at ¶ 29 (citations omitted). 

3. Use of Unmarked, Generic, and/or Reseller-Branded Packaging 

265. Manufacturers and sellers also often package toner supply containers in 

unmarked, generic, and/or reseller-branded packaging without any origin markings, let alone any 

marking specifically identifying the true source (e.g., manufacturer name).  See 829 RD at 124 

(“This legitimate practice [of private labeling] inevitably obscures the identity of the cartridges’ 

original manufacturer, making enforcement of a limited exclusion order difficult at best.”).  For 

example, in 2020, Canon purchased toner supply containers from various resellers, and various 

of those toner supply containers were contained in boxes such as the three shown in the below 

images.       

 
 

Precision Roller 
  
 

CJ-us 
  
 

Digital Buyer 

Separately 
Applied 
Stickers 
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These boxes are generic, revealing nothing about the actual manufacturer or any other supplier or 

distributor.  Often, separately applied stickers (typically placed around a front corner of the 

package as shown above) provide the only information about the purported identity and intended 

use of the toner supply container contained within particular packages, and it is these stickers 

that may be used by manufacturers and sellers of infringing toner supply containers to mislead 

Customs.  Using tactics like those discussed above, foreign manufacturers of infringing toner 

supply containers may easily circumvent a limited exclusion order. 

4. Replication of Operations 

266. Foreign manufacturers and distributors of infringing toner supply containers can 

quickly evolve from start-up entities into dominant players in the aftermarket toner supply 

container industry.  This fast evolution allows such foreign manufacturers and distributors to 

easily evade U.S. importation restrictions such as limited exclusion orders directed to specific 

named entities.  See Ex. 185 (Public Version of Joint Stipulation Regarding Remedy in 337-TA-

1106) at ¶¶ 12-18 (describing how members of Zhuhai Seine Technology Co., Ltd., the parent 

corporation of the Ninestar Respondents, left to form a different company (Aster) that quickly 

scaled its manufacturing, marketing, and sales operations); see also 829 RD at 120-121; 918 RD 

at 260-265 (observing Aster’s “rapid creation” and rise to become “dominant players in the 

aftermarket toner cartridge industry” and noting how other industry participants could take 

advantage of those circumstances to circumvent a limited exclusion order).  In addition, as noted 

above, the use of the internet, including storefronts and seller accounts on well-known online 

marketplaces, can allow a reseller to quickly replicate operations after being shut down simply 

by opening up a new storefront under a different name. 
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B. Widespread Pattern of Importation and Sale, and Difficulty of 
Identifying the Sources, of Infringing Toner Supply Containers 

1. Widespread Pattern of Importation and Sale 

267. A widespread pattern of importation and sale of infringing toner supply containers 

in the United States exists.  Such a widespread pattern of importation of infringing toner supply 

containers is evidenced by the large number of Respondents named in this Complaint, who, on 

information and belief, have imported numerous toner supply containers that infringe the 

Asserted Claims.  The widespread pattern of importation of aftermarket toner supply containers 

that infringe Canon’s patents is also demonstrated by the activities of the respondents in the 829 

and 918 Investigations, several of whom are also named Respondents in this Complaint.  See 829 

RD at 121 (“Given the number of respondents involved, the activities of the defaulting 

respondents and their suppliers alone would be sufficient to demonstrate a pattern of violation.”); 

918 RD at 278 (“Canon has adduced evidence showing there is a widespread pattern of 

importation and sale of infringing toner cartridges throughout the United States in addition to, 

and in part because of, the various business practices discussed above.”).   

268. On information and belief, there are at least hundreds of foreign suppliers of 

aftermarket imaging products.  See, e.g., Ex. 186 (Alibaba.com supplier search results for “canon 

compatible toner”); Ex. 187 (Made-in-China.com supplier search results for “Canon compatible 

toner”).  According to the Made-in-China.com search, nearly all of the suppliers (210 out of 224) 

belong to the “Manufacturer/Factory” category. 

269. On information and belief, foreign manufacturers of aftermarket toner supply 

containers have substantial production capacity, as well as vast resources and private and 

governmental support to quickly expand that capacity.  See, e.g., Ex. 188 (“Customers” webpage 

from en.ninestargroup.com, touting Ninestar’s annual toner cartridge output of 220 million 
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pieces, which ranks it “No. 1 in China’s export market share”); Ex. 151 (“Services > 

Manufacturing” webpage from gpi.com.tw/en, noting that “GPI has steadily expanded production 

facilities [in Central Taiwan] to meet increasing demands” and that “if a project has a potential to 

grow to an acceptable scale, GPI will consider expanding capacity or investing in a new 

technology in-house”); Ex. 163 (Sichuan XingDian Technology Co., Ltd. “Company 

Information” webpage from globalsources.com, describing Wiztoner’s manufacturing facilities, 

including, inter alia, 6,000-square-meter advanced manufacturing facilities, 300 workers and 20 

engineers, three laboratories, two show rooms, one printing-test center with 300 sets of printers, 

monthly production capacity of 150,000 pieces of toner cartridges, and experienced R&D 

engineers “devoted to the research of toner cartridges for latest printer models”); Ex. 158 

(October 6, 2018 archived “About Us” webpage from wiztoner.com, obtained from archive.org) 

(similar).   

270. Also, low barriers to entry into the toner supply container aftermarket promote 

widespread violation of Canon’s Asserted Patents.  As discussed supra ¶ 266, foreign 

manufacturers and distributors can quickly replicate and ramp up their operations.  In addition, 

on information and belief, the components required to manufacture infringing toner supply 

containers are inexpensive and readily obtainable from numerous sources. 

2. Difficulty of Identifying the Sources 

271. In this Complaint, Canon has identified those entities about which it has 

substantial evidence regarding the importation of infringing toner supply containers and 

components thereof into the United States.  But Canon has been unable to identify the source of 

infringing products sold by many other entities, including certain Respondents, such as 

Yatengshang, ChengDuXiang, Digital Buyer, Erlandianzishang, Precision Roller, KenoGen, 

TopInk, CJ-us, Zhuhai Henyun, and Do It Wiser.   



 

- 135 - 

272. The difficulty in identifying the source of infringing toner supply containers is yet 

further compounded by the use of the internet as a sales mechanism.  As discussed above, the 

internet allows for anonymity, and permits website operators to characterize themselves, their 

businesses, and their products in any way, regardless of the veracity of those characterizations.  

In addition, the ability to use unmarked, generic, and/or reseller branded packaging makes it 

extremely difficult to identify the sources of infringing toner supply containers.  Identifying the 

source of infringing toner supply containers is also frustrated by the various other above-

described business and importation practices often used by manufacturers and sellers of 

aftermarket toner supply containers to evade investigations by OEMs and U.S. Customs, such as, 

for example, the use of multiple business names, the use of complex and shifting corporate 

structures, and seeking to prevent public access to import records.   

273. For example, Canon obtained infringing toner supply containers from numerous 

sellers, some of which are Respondents, that arrived in substantially identical, generic packaging 

devoid of any indication of the manufacturer or the country of origin, as shown below.  See, e.g., 

Ex. 190 (including photographs of generic product packaging for Digital Buyer GPR53C and 

GPR53Y; Ink Tech GPR53K, GPR53C, GPR53M, GPR53Y, and GPR51K; LD Products 

GPR53K, GPR53C, GPR53M, and GPR53Y; Supplies Guys GPR53M; Zinyaw GPR53K, 

GPR53C, GPR53M, GPR53Y, GPR51K, GPR51C, GPR51M, and GPR51Y; Copier Repair 

Specialists GPR51C, GPR51M, GPR51Y, GPR55K, GPR55C, GPR55M, and GPR55Y; 

Precision Roller GPR51Y, GPR55M, GPR58K, GPR58C, GPR58M, and GPR58Y; and Sun 

Data Supply GPR51K, GPR51C, GPR51M, and GPR51Y); Ex. 117 (Ink Tech GPR51K 

purchase documentation); Ex. 119 (Sun Data Supply GPR51K, GPR51C, GPR51M, and 

GPR51Y purchase documentation); Ex. 122 (Zinyaw GPR51K, GPR51C, GPR51M, and 
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GPR51Y purchase documentation); Ex. 126 (Digital Buyer GPR53C and GPR53Y purchase 

documentation); Ex. 191 (Ink Tech GPR53K, GPR53C, GPR53M, and GPR53Y purchase 

documentation); Ex. 192 (LD Products GPR53K, GPR53C, GPR53M, and GPR53Y purchase 

documentation); Ex. 193 (Supplies Guys GPR53M purchase documentation); Ex. 194 (Zinyaw 

GPR53K, GPR53C, GPR53M, and GPR53Y purchase documentation); Ex. 195 (Copier Repair 

Specialists GPR51C, GPR51M, GPR51Y, GPR55K, GPR55C, GPR55M, and GPR55Y purchase 

documentation); Ex. 196 (Precision Roller GPR51Y, GPR55M, GPR58K, GPR58C, GPR58M, 

and GPR58Y purchase documentation). 

 
Digital Buyer GPR53C 

 

 
Ink Tech GPR53C 

 

 
LD Products GPR53C 

 

 
Supplies Guys GPR53M 
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Zinyaw GPR53C 

 

 
Copier Repair Specialists GPR51C 

 

 
Ink Tech GPR51K 

 

 
Precision Roller GPR51Y 

 

 
Sun Data Supply GPR51C 
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Zinyaw GPR51C 

 

 
Copier Repair Specialists GPR55M 

 

 
Precision Roller GPR55M  

 

 
Precision Roller GPR58M 

 
274. Not only do these boxes provide no information as to the country of origin or 

manufacturer, the toner supply containers contained therein also provide no such information.  

Thus, it is extremely difficult or impossible to identify the source(s) of such products.  On 

information and belief, it is possible that these toner supply containers could have been imported 

into the United States in different packaging, such as bulk packaging, and then re-packaged into 

these generic boxes before being re-sold in order to evade identification of their source by Canon 

or its investigators. 
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275. Accordingly, a general exclusion order is the appropriate relief in this case, given 

the numerous sources abroad of infringing toner supply containers and components thereof and 

the available channels of distribution. 

XI. RELIEF REQUESTED 

276. WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Canon requests that the United States 

International Trade Commission: 

(a) institute an immediate investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff 

Act of 1930, as amended, with respect to violations of that section based upon the importation 

into the United States, the sale for importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the 

United States after importation by Respondents of toner supply containers and components 

thereof that infringe one or more of the following Asserted Claims of the Asserted Patents: 

Group I Patents 

Patent No. Short Name Asserted Claims 

10,209,667 ’667 patent 1, 3, 6, 7, 8, 11 

10,289,060 ’060 patent 1, 2, 6, 7, 8 

10,289,061 ’061 patent 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 11 

10,295,957 ’957 patent 1, 2, 4, 7, 8, 9, 12 

10,488,814 ’814 patent 1, 4, 7, 8, 9, 12 

10,496,032 ’032 patent 1, 4, 7, 8, 9, 12, 50, 53, 56, 57, 58, 61 

10,496,033 ’033 patent 1, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13, 14, 18, 21, 22, 23, 26 

10,514,654 ’654 patent 1, 3, 4, 5, 46, 48, 49, 50 

10,520,881 ’881 patent 1, 5, 8, 9, 10, 13 

10,520,882 ’882 patent 1, 6, 7, 8 
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Group II Patents 

Patent No. Short Name Asserted Claims 

8,565,649 ’649 patent 1, 2, 6, 7, 12, 25, 26 

9,354,551 ’551 patent 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 

9,753,402 ’402 patent 1, 15, 16, 17, 18, 22, 23, 25, 26, 27, 32, 36, 37, 39, 40, 41, 46 
 

(b) schedule and conduct a hearing on said unlawful acts; 

(c) determine that said unlawful acts constitute a violation of Section 337 of 

the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended;  

(d) issue a permanent general exclusion order, or, alternatively, a limited 

exclusion order, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d), forbidding entry into the United States of all 

toner supply containers and components thereof that infringe any of the Asserted Claims of the 

Asserted Patents; 

(e) issue permanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), 

prohibiting Respondents from marketing (including via the internet or electronic mail), 

distributing, selling (including via the internet or electronic mail), offering for sale, warehousing 

inventory for distribution, or otherwise transferring or importing into the United States any toner 

supply containers and components thereof that infringe any of the Asserted Claims of the 

Asserted Patents; and 

(f) issue such other orders and further relief as the Commission deems just 

and proper based upon the facts determined by the investigation and under the authority of the 

Commission. 
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Dated: March 8, 2021 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 

 /s/ Michael P. Sandonato  
Michael P. Sandonato 
Dennis J. McMahon 
Andrew J. Kutas 
Sean M. McCarthy 
Nicholas D. Marcello 
VENABLE LLP 
1270 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10020 
Phone: 212-307-5500 
Fax: 212-307-5598 

 
Edmund J. Haughey 
VENABLE LLP 
600 Massachusetts Avenue, NW 
Washington, D.C. 20001 
Phone: 202-344-4000 
Fax: 202-344-8300 
 

 
Counsel for Complainants 
Canon Inc., Canon U.S.A., Inc., and 
Canon Virginia, Inc. 

 




